# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### **DAVID E. FLEISHER**

# APPELLANT

VERSUS

# CASE NO. 2010-CA-01594

## SOUTHERN AGCREDIT, FLCA

#### APPELLEE

# APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF STONE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI CIVIL ACTION NO. 2009-0027

## **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

## **ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED**

NICHOLAS VAN WISER, MSB NO. BYRD & WISER ATTORNEYS AT LAW 145 MAIN STREET-39530 P. O. BOX 1939 BILOXI, MISSISSIPPI 39533 (228) 432-8123 (phone) (228) 432-7029 (fax) Email: <u>nwiser@byrdwiser.com</u>

**ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT** 

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### **DAVID E. FLEISHER**

# STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Whether the Appellee met its burden of proof to establish with certainty that a deficiency claim existed against the Appellant?
- 2. Whether the trial court erred in finding that a deficiency judgment existed against the Appellant in favor of the Appellee?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. NATURE OF CASE

This appeal arises from a judgment after bench trial granting the Appellee, Southern AgCredit, FLCA, f/k/a Land Bank South, FLCA ("Southern AgCredit"), a deficiency judgment against the Appellant, David E. Fleisher ("Fleisher"). The trial court found that Fleisher was individually liable for a deficiency under three personal guaranties he executed in relation to three loans made by Southern AgCredit.

#### **B.** COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION IN COURT BELOW

On February 20, 2009, Southern AgCredit filed its Complaint on Unconditional Guaranties ("Complaint") alleging that Fleisher was indebted to Southern AgCredit under certain personal guaranties he executed in relation to four loans made to four separate LLC's. *See*, Complaint on Unconditional Guaranties, [R. 2-20]. Fleisher filed his Answer to Southern AgCredit's Complaint on April 13, 2009. *See*, Defendant's Answer to Plaintiff's Complaint, [R. 31-34].

Following discovery, both parties submitted Motions for Summary Judgment. On June 14, 2010, the trial court ruled on both Motions, partially granting Southern AgCredit's Motion and denying Fleisher's Motion. *See*, Order Granting Partial Summary Judgment, [R. 1204-1213]. The court essentially found that Fleisher was bound by the guaranties he executed in furtherance of the loans but also found questions of fact for trial as to what amounts, if any, he owed under the guaranties. *Id.* 

The suit was tried in a two day trial beginning on June 29, 2010, before the Honorable Lisa P. Dodson in the Circuit Court of Stone County, Mississippi. The trial judge issued her ruling on August 30, 2010 which was subsequently filed of record with the Circuit Clerk of Stone County, Mississippi on September 1, 2010. *See*, Judgment, [F-R.E. 2]. The court found that Fleisher was individually liable to Southern AgCredit under three of the personal guaranties he executed as to the secured loans issued by Southern AgCredit. *Id*. In so finding, the Court held that Southern AgCredit satisfied its burden of proof thereby allowing a deficiency judgment to be taken against Fleisher. *Id*.

On September 13, 2010, Southern AgCredit filed its Partial Motion for Reconsideration as to the Stay Imposed upon a Judgment against Defendant Fleisher based upon his Personal Guaranty for the Loan to Mississippi Investors VIII, LLC. *See*, Partial Motion to Reconsider, [R. 1263-1293]. Fleisher filed his Response in Opposition to Plaintiff's Partial Motion to Reconsider on September 22, 2010. *See*, Fleisher's Response, [R. 1294-1323].

On September 28, 2010, Fleisher timely filed his Notice of Appeal. *See*, Notice of Appeal, [R. 1330-1340]. Thereafter, Southern AgCredit filed its Notice of Cross-Appeal on October 11, 2010. *See*, Notice of Cross-Appeal, [R. 1341-1343]. The trial court then ruled on Southern AgCredit's Partial Motion to Reconsider, denying the Motion, which was filed of record on November 16, 2010. *See*, Order, [R. 1344].

# C. STATEMENT OF FACTS

In the wake of the devastation and destruction caused by Hurricane Katrina, South Mississippi was in desperate need of housing. To address this need, four persons and their individually-owned Florida corporations came together to purchase and develop certain tracts of land located in Harrison, Stone, and George County, Mississippi. Those individuals are the Appellant herein, David Fleisher, William M. Adkinson ("Adkinson"), Lee F. Kennedy ("Kennedy") and Robert T. Windham ("Windham").

Fleisher, Adkinson, Kennedy and Windham decided to form a number of LLC's<sup>1</sup> to acquire and develop the various properties in Harrison, Stone and George County. Each individual had a solely-owned Florida corporation that was made a 25% member of each LLC. This cause of action revolves around four loans made by Southern AgCredit to four of the aforementioned LLC's and four personal guaranties executed by Fleisher in conjunction with those loans.

In 2006, four loans were issued by Southern AgCredit<sup>2</sup> to Mississippi Investors VII, LLC ("MS VII"), Mississippi Investors VIII, LLC ("MS VIII"), Mississippi Investors X, LLC ("MS X") and Mississippi Investors XIV, LLC ("MS XIV") in order to purchase certain undeveloped properties located in Stone and George County, Mississippi. *See*, MS LLC Promissory Notes, [R. 427-442]. The loans were secured by Deeds of Trust placed on each tract of land. Fleisher, Adkinson, Kennedy and Windham each signed Unconditional Agreements of Guaranty relating to the four loans which made them personal guarantors on each of the loans issued to the LLC's. *See*, Fleisher's Guaranties, [R. 5-16]. Each Guaranty contained the same language regarding the individual's liability which stated that the guarantor shall be liable for a specified percentage of the guaranteed indebtedness in an amount equal to 140% of the guarantor's 25% ownership interest in the LLC at the time of the making of the Guaranty. *Id*.

Southern AgCredit obtained appraisals for each of the properties in furtherance of making the loans. *See*, 2006 Appraisals, [F-R.E. 3; F-R.E. 4; F-R.E. 5]. The appraisals were performed by Michael Elliott, a Mississippi certified general real estate appraiser employed by Southern AgCredit

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The four individuals formed twenty-one LLC's in all which were given the names Mississippi Investors I through Mississippi XXI, respectively.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The loans were actually made by Southern AgCredit's predecessor-in-interest, Land Bank South, FLCA, which changed its name to Southern AgCredit, FLCA in 2009. The company will be referred to as Southern AgCredit throughout this Appeal Brief.

as its senior appraiser. *Id.* Joe Mallard, a registered forester employed with Southern AgCredit as a loan officer, provided timber cruises for each of the appraisals and prepared a detailed evaluation of the timber located on the properties. *Id.* The timber value was included in the amounts listed on each appraisal making up the market value of each of the properties. *Id.* 

Following the acquisition of the properties, Fleisher and Kennedy sold their interests in the LLC's to Adkinson. *See*, Membership Interest Purchase Agreement, [R. 555-568]. In March 2008, Southern AgCredit obtained new appraisals on the properties secured under the loan agreements. *See*, 2008 Appraisals, [F-R.E. 6; F-R.E. 7; F-R.E. 8]. Again, Michael Elliott performed the appraisals. *Id.* However, timber cruises were not obtained for the new appraisals and none of the appraisals included any value for timber.

The four LLC's eventually defaulted on the loans and each filed bankruptcy. *See*, Bankruptcy Documents, [R. 455-461]. The Bankruptcy Court first ordered each LLC to make adequate protection payments on the loans. When the LLC's failed to make the adequate protection payments, the Bankruptcy Court lifted the automatic stay, thereby permitting the foreclosure of the properties securing the loans to MS VII, MS X and MS XIV. The properties were then sold at foreclosure in January 2010 and Southern AgCredit was the sole bidder purchasing each piece of property. *See*, Substituted Trustee's Deeds, [R. 575-597]. The stay was not lifted on the MS VIII property as the Debtor in Possession was able to propose a plan of reorganization in the Bankruptcy Court proceeding which was still pending at the time of trial.

Prior to the trial of this cause, partial summary judgment was entered in favor of Southern AgCredit finding that Fleisher had not been released from his obligations under his guaranties. *See*, Order Granting Partial Summary Judgment, [R. 1204-1213]. Following this determination by the

Court, Southern AgCredit proceeded to trial on its claims for the full amounts of the alleged deficiencies against Fleisher as to the loans made to MS VII, MS X and MS XIV.

Southern AgCredit alleged that the total deficiency as to the MS VII loan was \$1,494,668.00; the total deficiency as to the MS X loan was \$434,266.25; and the total deficiency as to the MS XIV loan was \$420,882.17. Southern AgCredit prayed for judgment as to the full amount of each deficiency despite the fact that the Guaranties executed by Fleisher only allowed for a specified percentage of recovery of 140% of his corporation's 25% interest in the LLC's.

With respect to the MS VIII loan, Southern AgCredit asked the Court to award the entire amount due on the loan because no foreclosure sale had been conducted as to the secured property. Southern AgCredit alleged that amount to be \$3,150,000.00 and sought the full amount of that balance irrespective of the specified percentage recited in the Guaranty.

In the court below, Fleisher maintained that he owed nothing to Southern AgCredit because the fair market value of the properties exceeded the amounts owed on each loan made to the four LLC's. Alternatively, Fleisher contended that if a deficiency were found to remain, he did not owe one hundred percent of any such deficiency. Fleisher asserted that he owed nothing at all on the MS VIII loan as the debtor's plan proposed payment in full of the loan in the Bankruptcy Court.

The trial judge ruled in favor of Southern AgCredit as to its deficiency claims regarding MS VII, MS X and MS XIV. *See*, Judgment at pgs. 24-25, [F-R.E. 2]. The trial judge found that Southern AgCredit met its burden of proof thereby allowing a deficiency judgment against Fleisher. *Id.* 

The trial judge ruled that the MS VIII deficiency claim was premature. *Id.* at pg. 9. The trial judge found that the bankruptcy of MS VIII and the proposed plan of reorganization pending in that

court stood in the way of determining any deficiency judgment against Fleisher at the time of trial and denied any relief to Southern AgCredit as to the MS VIII loan. *Id.* For the purposes of this appeal, Fleisher does not call into question the trial court's ruling as to the MS VIII loan and appeals only against the court's rulings on the deficiency claims of MS VII, MS X and MS XIV.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Fleisher appeals from a final judgment of the Circuit Court of Stone County, Mississippi after a bench trial granting deficiency claims for Southern AgCredit. As such, an abuse of discretion standard of review is applied and the appellate court will not disturb the trial court's findings of fact absent an appellate determination that the trial judge abused her discretion, was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or applied an erroneous legal standard. The appellate court reviews questions of law under a *de novo* standard.

Southern AgCredit, as the mortgagee claiming a deficiency, bears the burden of proof in establishing that a deficiency award would be just and equitable in light of the relevant facts and evidence. As Southern AgCredit was the purchaser at its own foreclosure sale, it was required at trial below to show the following:

1. That it attempted to collect the indebtedness from the property serving as collateral for the loan;

2. That the property was sold in a commercially reasonable fashion; and

3. That Southern AgCredit gave credit against the indebtedness to the debtor for the fair market value of the property.

Southern AgCredit completely failed to meet this burden.

Southern AgCredit failed to submit any proof showing any efforts to collect the indebtedness

7

out of the land, other than the statutory minimum of advertising once each week for three successive weeks in the *Stone County Enterprise*.<sup>3</sup>

Southern AgCredit submitted *no proof* from any source, expert or otherwise that the manner in which the sale was conducted was a commercially reasonable sale. There was no testimony 1) from brokers or agents of the usual and customary methods of marketing large tracts of property; 2) from marketing experts as to the best and highest use of the property; 3) from anyone as to the effect on the fair market value of the investment of over \$22,000,000 by Mike Adkinson in the property; or 4) the effect that investment had on the highest and best use of the property and of increasing the pool of prospective purchasers.<sup>4</sup>

Most significantly, Southern AgCredit completely failed to put before the court any testimony whatsoever to establish the fair market value of the properties *at the time of foreclosure in January*, 2010.

It is Fleisher's position before this Court that Southern AgCredit failed to give Fleisher fair credit for the fair market value of the collateral after foreclosure thereby precluding its deficiency judgment claims against Fleisher.

The trial court erred in finding a deficiency against Fleisher because Southern AgCredit failed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> While the *Stone County Enterprise* is a valuable asset to the community of Stone County, its role as the *sole* advertising medium for the sale is hardly a stroke of marketing genius for attracting prospects for multi-thousand acre tracts of real estate.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> It is critical to note that excluding the MS VIII loan, the property securing the remaining three loans comprised 2455.58 acres in Stone County, MS. This constitutes a huge tract of real estate that had been assembled by the four investors, and requires considerably more expertise in marketing than a single family residence in a subdivision in Suburbia. Adkinson testified about the funds expended in infrastructure, permits and planning that enhanced the value of the real estate. None of this was considered.

to meet the requisite burden of proof to justify that a deficiency judgment is equitable. It is respectfully submitted that it is impossible to calculate a deficiency which satisfies the three required elements set forth above from the facts and evidence submitted to the court below by Southern AgCredit. The trial court recognized this in its perceptive criticism of the "appraisals" submitted by Southern AgCredit at trial, but rather than dismissing the case out of hand for failure to meet this burden, the court essentially created its own methodology for determining value, and based its judgment upon that methodology. This approach is clearly erroneous by attempting to employ a legal standard not recognized by Mississippi law. Therefore, the trial court's ruling should be overturned.

#### ARGUMENT

#### A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Fleisher appeals from a final judgment of the Circuit Court of Stone County, Mississippi, following a bench trial granting deficiency claims for Southern AgCredit. This Court applies an abuse of discretion standard of review when reviewing a trial judge's findings of fact. *Estate of Davis v. O'Neill*, 42 So. 3d 520, 524 (Miss. 2010)(citing *Corporate Mgmt., Inc. v. Greene County*, 23 So.3d 454, 459 (Miss.2009); *Rotenberry v. Hooker*, 864 So.2d 266, 269 (Miss. 2003)). The Court will not disturb a trial judge's factual findings "when supported by substantial evidence unless ... the judge abused his discretion, was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or applied an erroneous legal standard." *Id.* (quoting *Biglane v. Under The Hill Corp.*, 949 So.2d 9, 13-14 (Miss.2007)). On questions of law, this Court uses a *de novo* standard of review. *Id.* 

# B. THE DEFICIENCY JUDGMENT STANDARD UNDER MISSISSIPPI LAW

By way of clarification, there are two separate and distinct conceptual analyses which are

components of Mississippi foreclosure law into which "fair market value" comes into play. The first of these is the "bid price" at the foreclosure sale versus the "fair market value" when one is determining the validity of the foreclosure sale itself, with an eye as to whether the foreclosure should be set aside.

From the outset, it should be noted that Fleisher does not seek to have the foreclosures of the secured properties set aside. Mississippi courts adhere to the general rule that, absent any irregularity in the conduct of a foreclosure sale, it may not be set aside unless the sales price is so inadequate as to shock the conscience of the court or to amount to fraud. *Allied Steel Corp. v. Cooper*, 607 So.2d 113, 118 (Miss. 1992)(citations omitted). The bid price must be so inadequate that it would be "impossible to state it to a man of common sense without producing an exclamation at the inequality of it." *Id.* (quoting *Federal Credit Company v. Boleware*, 142 So. 1, 2 (Miss. 1932)).

The adequacy of the bid price when analyzing the sufficiency of a foreclosure sale is a question of law, left to the discretion of the judge within the parameters set forth by this Court. *Id.* at 120 (citing *Haygood v. First Nat'l Bank of New Albany*, 517 So.2d 553, 556 (Miss. 1977); *Myles v. Cox*, 217 So.2d 31, 35 (Miss. 1968). The threshold of unconscionability lies around forty percent of the fair market value of the property when determining whether the foreclosure sale should be set aside due to the inadequacy of the purchase price. *Id.* (citing 53 *Miss.L.J.* 533, 546 (1983)).

Fleisher does not challenge the adequacy of the bid prices at foreclosure to support a valid foreclosure, nor does he otherwise seek to have the foreclosures set aside.

The second analysis under Mississippi foreclosure jurisprudence in which "fair market

value" comes into play is when the court is seeking to determine whether a deficiency judgment is appropriate. The analysis for this test is conceptually and functionally distinct from that of the "validity of the foreclosure" analysis. It is the trial court's use of the "validity of the foreclosure" analysis in formulating the court's "entitlement to a deficiency" analysis to determine if any sums remained owing by Fleisher that is a fundamental error from which this appeal is taken.

Fleisher challenges Southern AgCredit's right to a deficiency judgment. Fleisher would submit that Southern AgCredit fell woefully short of meeting the standard set forth under Mississippi law for a deficiency award in this matter and therefore, the lower court's ruling should be overturned, as the court applied this incorrect analysis. The trial judge performed an in-depth analysis of the 2006 and 2008 appraisals offered by Southern AgCredit and essentially found those appraisals to be deficient, then "borrowed" the numbers from the foreclosure sale price and added a four year old timber cruise to come up with the "fair market value". This was the second error.

A foreclosing creditor's right to a deficiency judgment has found its way into the forum of Mississippi appellate court review on numerous occasions. As a result, a pattern of case law centering around the concepts of equitableness and fair market value have come to the forefront when evaluating whether a deficiency claim should be granted in any particular case.

In *Wansley v. First Nat'l Bank of Vicksburg* 566 So.2d 1218, 1225 (Miss. 1990), this Court was faced with a dispute arising out of a deficiency suit following a foreclosure sale by the creditor. This Court stated that the mortgagee has no right to a deficiency judgment until he satisfies the court that it would be equitable, in the light of the sales price, to authorize and render a deficiency judgment. *Id* at 1225. The Court also proclaimed that, "[s]omething more than a difference between the price paid at the foreclosure and the amount of the indebtedness must be demonstrated before the mortgagee is entitled to a deficiency judgment." *Id.* at 1224 (quoting *Lake Hillsdale Estates, Inc. v. Galloway*, 473 So.2d 461, 466 (Miss. 1985)).

This concept is critical in distinguishing between the "validity of foreclosure" standard, and the "entitlement to deficiency" standard. The validity of foreclosure standard is used to determine whether a debtor has been wrongfully deprived of his property. Since the debtor voluntarily pledged this property, and the Legislature has established the procedural mechanism for the sale, so that a creditor may take ownership and possession of the property, the standard for the percentage of the bid price versus the real value is decidedly low - in the thirty-five percent (35%) to forty percent (40%) range.

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