#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DAVID E. FLEISHER

**APPELLANT** 

**VERSUS** 

NO. 2010-CA-01594

SOUTHERN AGCREDIT, FLCA

**APPELLEE** 

#### ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF STONE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI CIVIL ACTION NO. 2009-0027

#### RESPONSE AND CROSS APPEAL BRIEF OF APPELLEE

#### ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Jeffrey M. Williams (M. Richard D. Mitchell Matthew R. Dowd (Jeffrey P. Hubbard Wells, Moore, Simmons & Hubbard, PLLC Highland Bluff North 4450 Old Canton Rd, Ste 200 (39211) Post Office Box 1970 Jackson, Mississippi 39215-1970 Telephone: (601) 354-5400

Telecopier: (601) 355-5850 ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

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

As a starting point, in its order granting partial summary judgment in favor of Southern Ag, (R. at 1204-1214), the trial court found, as a matter of law, that the guaranties were unambiguous, that Fleisher admitted to signing and being bound by the unambiguous terms, and that Fleisher guaranteed minimum specific amounts. (R. at 1204-1214). The trial court further ruled that based upon the unambiguous language of the guaranty, the pending bankruptcy proceeding for Mississippi Investors VIII, LLC "does not prevent Southern AgCredit from proceeding herein related to the Guaranty of the loan made to Mississippi Investors VIII." (R. at 1213). Thus, based upon these findings of fact and conclusions of law, which were based upon the trial court's analysis of the terms of the guaranty and other evidence presented at the summary judgment stage, this Court should reverse and render a judgment in favor of Southern Ag in at least the minimum amount guaranteed by Fleisher for the Mississippi Investors VIII loan.

Additionally and/or alternatively, the language of the guaranty for which the trial court ruled was unambiguous and enforceable states that "the initial dollar amount of Guarantor's guaranty shall be \$3,150,000.00." (R. at 8). The guaranty states that "the rights of [Southern Ag] under this Guaranty will be cumulative of any and all other rights that [Southern Ag] may ever have against Guarantor. The exercise by [Southern Ag] of any right or remedy under this Guaranty or under any other instrument, or at law or in equity, will not preclude the concurrent or subsequent exercise of any other right or remedy." (R. at 8). The guaranty states that Fleisher's obligations and liability will not be released, diminished, impacted, reduced or affected by the bankruptcy of Mississippi Investors VIII. (R. at 9). Furthermore, the guaranty states that Fleisher's obligations and liability will not be released, diminished, impacted, reduced or affected by Southern Ag's inability or failure to foreclose on the Mississippi Investors VIII collateral. (R. at 9). Therefore, if for no other reason, based upon the language of the guaranty itself, Southern Ag is entitled to a judgment against Fleisher and this Court should reverse and render in favor of Southern Ag for at least the initial guaranteed amount of \$3.150.000.00.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> It is important for the Court to recognize that Southern Ag sued Fleisher to hold him liable for specific initial amounts he guaranteed, plus other consequential damages, for each of his guaranties. Fleisher never disputed in this litigation that he signed the guaranties, never disputed that he understood what the guaranties obligated him to do, never disputed the initial minimum amounts he guaranteed, never disputed that the entities defaulted on the loans, never disputed that demand was made upon him and never disputed that he did not pay upon demand. Consequently, based upon the unambiguous, understood and agreed language of the guaranties, Southern Ag was also entitled to a judgment against Fleisher, at a minimum, for the initial amounts he guaranteed for the Mississippi Investors VII, X and XIV loans.

Yet, so as to give Fleisher credit towards the prices it bid at foreclosure, all after suit was filed against Fleisher, Southern Ag asked that the Court award it a judgment in an amount less than it was otherwise entitled to under the guaranties. The reduced amount sought as damages by Southern Ag equaled the established deficiencies after foreclosure. Southern Ag's reduction in the amount of damages sought for Fleisher's breach of his guaranties was equitable by any measure. This is especially true, because Fleisher's agreed minimum liability was not contractually diminished in any way by Southern Ag's ability or inability to foreclose on collateral.

Importantly, there has never been a finding of fact or conclusion of law by the trial court of inequitable conduct by Southern Ag so as to deny it a judgment against Fleisher for any of his guaranties, much less the guaranty of the Mississippi Investors VIII Note. Rather, as set forth in the trial court's final judgment, the only reason why it refrained from awarding Southern Ag a judgment, on the grounds of prematurity, was a concern over what amounts were owed to Mississippi Investors VIII. (R. at 1277). The trial court clarified its concerns over the amounts owed by Mississippi Investors VIII in a discussion and acknowledgment of Mississippi Investors VIII being in bankruptcy with the future potential for interest only, adequate protection payments being made and/or a reorganization plan being approved. (R. at 1277). Yet, and again, Fleisher's unambiguous and enforceable guaranty was not limited in any way by Mississippi Investors VIII's bankruptcy, was not limited by any inability of Southern Ag to foreclose on collateral and was not limited by any other right granted to Southern Ag through the guaranty and corresponding Note.

It is well settled in Mississippi that the same rules of construction are applied to a guaranty as in any other contract. See Bank of McLain v. Pascagoula Nat'l Bank, 117 So. 124, 126 (Miss. 1928). A guaranty should be given a fair and reasonable interpretation in accordance with the intentions of the parties. See EAC Credit Corp. v. King, 507 F.2d 1232, 1237 (5th Cir. 1975) (applying Mississippi law and recognizing that if the words of guaranties are so narrowly construed so as to defeat their purpose, then guaranties would become too unsafe to rely upon). Moreover and more recently, the court of appeals reiterated that "pursuant to Mississippi law, a 'court is obligated to enforce a contract executed by legally competent parties where the terms of the contract are clear and unambiguous." Knight Properties, Inc. v. State Bank & Trust, Co., 2011 WL 590910, \*5 (Miss. Ct. App. Feb. 22, 2011) (internal citations omitted) (upholding a grant of summary judgment against the guarantor based upon the default of the borrowing entity). Thus, the trial court abused its

discretion and erred as a matter of law in refusing to award a judgment against Fleisher by ignoring the intent of the parties and essentially re-writing the guaranty.

Yet, in case this Court had any doubts or needed clarity on Southern Ag's position, Southern Ag points the Court to the *Knight Properties* case which involved a situation where State Bank pursued a judgment against the guarantor, but did not attempt to foreclose on the real property securing the loan. *Id.* at \*1-2. The guarantor, Chad Knight, argued that State Bank could not pursue a claim against him on his guaranty, without foreclosing on the collateral. *Id.* at \*2-4. The court of appeals rejected this argument and upheld the grant of summary judgment based upon the unambiguous language of the guaranty that expressly permitted State Bank to pursue a judgment against the guarantor, regardless of whether an action had been commenced to foreclose or whether there was any other impairment of the collateral. *Id.* at \*5. Applied to this case, Southern Ag clearly has the contractual right to recover a judgment against Fleisher under the express terms of the guaranty of the loan to Mississippi Investors VIII and is not precluded or impaired in any way by either the bankruptcy of Mississippi Investors VIII or any ability / inability of Southern Ag to foreclose upon the collateral.

Added to this, at the summary judgment stage, Southern Ag submitted Fleisher's deposition testimony where he admitted to the minimum amounts he guaranteed, admitted the loans were in default and admitted that he did not pay upon demand. (R. at 466-484). The trial court considered this testimony in partially granting Southern Ag's motion for summary judgment<sup>3</sup> and denying Fleisher's motion for summary judgment. (R. at 1204-1213).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Southern Ag points out that it was entitled to summary judgment as to all amounts it sought for all of the guaranties at the summary judgment stage based upon the undisputed proof of the Notes, defaults, demands and minimum amounts guaranteed.

At trial, Southern Ag entered into evidence the Note for Mississippi Investors VIII, the default, which was never in dispute, the guaranty, the demand made upon Fleisher to pay and testimony from Southern Ag's representative, Ben Elliott, which additionally proved that Fleisher failed to pay upon demand. (SA-R.E.6, 10 and 16 pp. 57, 60). Fleisher did not testify on his behalf at trial and he did not offer any evidence to refute the default on the loan or to dispute his breach of the guaranty agreement. Thus, based upon the specific guaranty placed at issue, which identified an admitted, uncontested initial amount guaranteed, the Note at issue, the default on the Note, the demand made upon Fleisher and Fleisher's failure to pay, Southern Ag was entitled to summary judgment at a minimum, but even if not summary judgment, then a judgment pursuant to Miss. R Civ. P. 52.4

Furthermore, even had Fleisher's guaranty of the Mississippi Investors VIII loan not identified a specific minimum amount guaranteed, under Mississippi law, Southern Ag's only general burden of proof for a prima facie case to recover a judgment against Fleisher for his guaranty was to introduce the Note, the guaranty and sworn transcript of the account. *See generally U.S. v. Irby*, 517 F.2d 1042, 1043 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1975) (arising out of the District Court of the Southern District of Mississippi). Yet, as a matter of this specific contract interpretation and enforcement, Southern Ag did not have to put on evidence of the total loan obligation owed, because the guaranty identified a specific minimum amount of liability and Fleisher was liable for that amount. Southern Ag met its burden through evidence of the Note, guaranty, default and refusal to pay.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Rule 52(a) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure provides that "the court may, and <u>shall</u> upon the request of any party to the suit or when required by these rules, find the facts specially and state separately its conclusions of law thereon and <u>iudgment shall be entered accordingly</u>." Miss. R. Civ. P. 52(a) (emphasis added). The trial court's ruling as to Mississippi Investors VIII, LLC was effectively that it was holding its ruling in abeyance pending further proceedings in the bankruptcy court as to Mississippi Investors VIII, LLC. The result is that no judgment has been entered in favor of either party as to the guaranty of the Mississippi Investors VIII Note.

If this were not enough to reverse and render on this issue, the trial court's refusal to award Southern Ag a judgment against Fleisher for his guaranty of the Mississippi Investors VIII Note essentially defeats the purpose of the guaranty itself on a basis that completely ignores the language and intent of the guaranty. The trial court's "premature" ruling likewise runs counter to its ruling, as a matter of law, that the guaranty was unambiguous and enforceable. The trial court's refusal to award Southern Ag a judgment on this particular guaranty was apparently based upon an equitable argument raised by Fleisher for which Southern Ag can find no specific Mississippi authority on point. A trial court has discretion, yet this discretion is not limitless. See generally Magee v. Magee, 734 So. 2d 1034, 1041 (Miss. Ct. App. 1998).

Being unable to find any Mississippi Supreme Court authority supportive of the trial court's prematurity ruling, Southern Ag points out that Judge Starret, sitting in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Mississippi, has rejected the same equitable argument made by Fleisher. See Placid Ref. Co., LLC v. Stinson, 2009 WL 4938911 (S.D. Miss. Dec. 14, 2009). This is the closest case on point that Southern Ag could find.

In the *Placid* case, the defendant, Stinson, signed a personal guaranty of the debt incurred by his company, Stinson Petroleum Co., Inc. ("Stinson Petroleum"), to the plaintiff, Placid Refining Co., LLC ("Placid"). *Id.* at \*1. Stinson Petroleum defaulted on the debt and later filed bankruptcy. *Id.* Placid filed suit against Stinson individually based on his personal guaranty of the Stinson Petroleum debt. *Id.* One of the defenses raised by Stinson was that Placid's claim being pursued under the personal guaranty should have been held in abeyance until a resolution of the bankruptcy, which is essentially what the trial court did in this case. *Id.* at \*4. Regarding this defense, the court found as follows:

The fact that Placid is also pursuing its rights in the bankruptcy has no bearing on the

present liability of Mr. Stinson. If Placid recovers against Stinson personally and is actually paid, its bankruptcy claim will become moot. Likewise, if Placid receives any moneys through the bankruptcy proceeding, Stinson would be entitled to a credit therefor. Any other interpretation would defeat the obvious purpose of the personal guaranty.

*Id.* (emphasis added). Accordingly and/or alternatively, applying the sound logic of the United States District Court for the Southern District of Mississippi in *Placid*, this Court should reverse and render a judgment in favor of Southern Ag for at least the initial guaranteed amount of \$3,150,000.00.

#### D. FLEISHER NEVER RAISED AN ISSUE AT THE TRIAL COURT LEVEL OF SOUTHERN AG'S POST FORECLOSURE EFFORTS TO MARKET THE SECURED COLLATERAL AND THEREFORE FLEISHER IS PRECLUDED FROM RAISING IT FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL

Fleisher's primary argument on appeal as to why he maintains that Southern Ag was not entitled to a judgment against him for his guaranties of the Mississippi Investors VII, X and XIV loans is that Southern Ag must "take the indebtedness out of the land <u>following foreclosure</u>." Fleisher Brief at p. 16. (emphasis added). In terms of taking the indebtedness out of the land, Fleisher refers to post foreclosure efforts of hiring consulting real estate brokers, obtaining market surveys, listing the property on on-line databases and publicly advertising the property for sale. Fleisher Brief at p. 20.

Fleisher generally cites to *Hartman v. McInnis*, 996 So. 2d 704 (Miss. 2007), *Wansley v. First Nat'l Bank of Vicksburg*, 566 So. 2d 1218 (Miss. 1990), and *Lake Hillsdale Estates v. Galloway*, 473 So. 2d 461 (Miss. 1985) in creating a "just and equitable test." Fleisher Brief at pg. 21. However, this new found position was never raised by Fleisher before the trial court.

Fleisher's Answer does not raise this as an Affirmative Defense. (R. at 32-34). Fleisher did not raise it in response to Southern Ag's motion for summary judgment (R. at 650-672) or in his own motion for summary judgment. (R. at 772-783). Fleisher did not raise this issue at oral argument on

the motions for summary judgment. (SA-R.E.14 pp. 1-43). Likewise, Fleisher did not raise this issue in arguments at trial. (SA-R.E.16 pp. 44-374). In fact, Fleisher never argued that he was not liable under his guaranties because Southern Ag did not adequately market the properties after foreclosure. He argues this as a defense for the first time on appeal.

It is well settled that a "[f]ailure to raise an issue in a trial court causes operation of a procedural bar on appeal." *Richmond v. EBI, Inc.*, 53 So. 3d 859, 864 (Miss. Ct. App. 2011). Accordingly, Fleisher is barred from claiming that Southern Ag is not entitled to a judgment against him due to Southern Ag's post foreclosure marketing efforts and the trial court should not be reversed as to the judgment rendered for the Mississippi Investors VII, X and XIV guaranties, because Fleisher never argued that Southern Ag must first adequately market and sell collateral before it can recover a judgment against him on his guaranties.

Yet, if the Court were to disagree that Fleisher is barred from arguing for the first time on appeal that he is not liable due to the post foreclosure marketing efforts by Southern Ag, then his position still fails as a matter of law. First, Fleisher's argument fails because none of the cases cited by Fleisher concern suits to enforce guaranties and further, they do not concern guaranties containing specified minimum, initial guaranteed amounts. Thus, this case is factually distinct from *Hartman*, *Wansley*, and *Lake Hillsdale Estates*. These cases do not say that a mortgagee cannot recover a judgment against a guarantor under the clear terms of the contract, without the mortgagee first endeavoring to collect the debt from collateral. Moreover, these cases do not say that a mortgagee cannot recover a judgment against a guarantor, unless it adequately markets collateral that has been foreclosed upon.

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